IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC11-219

JOHN STEVEN HUGGINS, Appellant,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

David R. Gemmer
Assistant CCRC-Middle
Florida Bar Number 370541
Office of The Capital
Collateral Regional Counsel
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, Fl 33609-1004
gemmer@ccmr.state.fl.us
(813) 740-3544

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

After Mr. Huggins' first trial in 1999, the trial court ordered a new trial based on prosecutor Ashton's violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). *State v. Huggins*, 788 So.2d 238, 244 (Fla. 2001). Mr. Huggins was sentenced to death after the second trial, with a nine-to-three death recommendation. The court found thirteen nonstatutory mitigating factors proven at the first trial. Affirmed. *Huggins v. State*, 889 So.2d 743 (Fla. 2004). The Rule 3.851 motion was filed on June 5, 2006. ROA 1/32-75.

FACTS RELATING TO COMPETENCY

Diagnosed and Ruled Psychotic and Incompetent in 2006

CCRC counsel filed a competency motion when Mr. Huggins proved unable to assist due to his delusional beliefs about the case. ROA 1/175-85.

The court-appointed panel unanimously found Mr. Huggins incompetent -- actively psychotic, paranoid delusions, and a decades-long history of serious mental illness. ROA 2/222-31, 300-17. The court ordered treatment. ROA 13/1-57, ROA 2/332-73. After a single meeting DCF staff reported that Mr. Huggins did not

¹ The first trial jury recommended death eight to four. ROA 1999Supp 11/194, Citations to postconviction proceedings are designated "ROA vol./page." Records of prior appeals include the year to distinguish from the current ROA.

² Mr. Huggins presented essentially no evidence of mitigation at the second trial.

require the treatment and medication recommended by the court panel because he competent. Judge Perry again ordered DCF to treat Mr. Huggins. ROA 3/404. A month later, DCF staff advised that Mr. Huggins' abnormal behavior "could be under the willful control of the prisoner," but he remained competent. ROA 3/407-10. 426.

Diagnosed and Ruled Psychotic and Incompetent 2007

The court ordered a new evaluation by the court panel which found Mr. Huggins to still be incompetent. ROA 3/414-19, 516-17. Mr. Huggins had a factual but not rational understanding of the proceedings. ROA 3/498.

At the next hearing, Dr. Thornton, the DCF psychiatrist, conceded that a prisoner can be "mentally ill and malinger," ROA 18/101, and that Mr. Huggins' belief that "the death penalty is a conspiracy by the elite to oppress the poor" was within the norm. ROA 18/85. The DCF staff withheld documents from the defense at the hearing until compelled to produce. A suppressed report by DCF psychologist Dr. Bilak revealed the staff only reviewed the reports of court panelists Dr. Danziger and Dr. McClaren, the State-recommended experts, and ignored the report by defense-recommended expert Dr. Dee. ROA 3/350-67). ROA 18/121-22.

Dr. Thornton omitted a critical portion of Dr. Bilak's suppressed report when he referred to it in his own report to the court. The suppressed opinion of Dr. Bilak included:

Mr. Huggins does manifest delusional belief symptoms that was [sic] only apparent and only appears to make rational sense to him, attempts of questioning him about this only lead to more tangential associations and other delusions ... that do not appear connected. ...

ROA 18/122. Dr. Thornton conceded his agency was not equipped to restore death row inmates to competency. ROA 18/113.

Judge Perry found Mr. Huggins remained incompetent and ordered treatment by the Department of Corrections (DOC). ROA 3/512-21. The DOC later found no need to treat. ROA 19/passim. The court again ordered the DOC to treat Mr. Huggins. ROA 3/535-36.³

Ultimately, Mr. Huggins was committed to the DCF's Florida State Hospital (FSH) for residential treatment. ROA 4/605-80, ROA 21.

³ The DOC filed a petition with this Court challenging the circuit court's authority to order treatment. This Court ordered the Governor, the Attorney General, and DCF to file written comments. *Florida Department of Corrections v. John Steven Huggins*, Case No. SC08-1022, Order of February 24, 2009. Shortly thereafter, the DOC voluntarily dismissed the petition. Order of March 10, 2009.

Ruled competent 2009

At FSH, Dr. Stephen Kopetskie found Mr. Huggins was malingering⁴ and competent. ROASUPP 1/27-39 ("Kopetskie Report"). CCRC counsel filed an emergency motion seeking another evaluation by the court panel. ROA 4/691-98. The motion also sought to have a new defense-recommended expert appointed to the panel after the death of Dr. Dee. *Id.* The court denied the motion and proceeded immediately to the competency hearing. ROA 22/4-14.

Dr. Kopetskie, the sole witness, appeared by telephone. Dr. Kopetskie did not have his records and did not know how many hours he spent evaluating Mr. Huggins. ROA 22/20, 29. Mr. Huggins exhibited his delusional thinking only in the formal interviews. ROASUPP 1/32. The other meetings Dr. Kopetskie claimed to show Mr. Huggins was malingering because he failed to manifest his delusions were actually with a "Recovery Team" limited solely to day-to-day living issues. ROA 22/37-38.

Dr. Kopetskie administered only one psychological test, the Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI), designed to diagnose psychiatric symptoms, not malingering. ROA 22/24, 46. Dr. Kopetskie said he had wanted to give Mr. Huggins the SIRS test (the "gold standard" for diagnosing malingering). *Id.* at

[&]quot;Malingering" is "the intentional production of falsely or grossly exaggerated physical or psychological symptoms, motivated by external incentives ... "DSM-IV-TR at 739 (2000).

66. However, the doctor's colleagues advised him to withhold the test because the report finding Mr. Huggins was competent because he was malingering was already circulating for review. *Id.* at 25, 70.⁵

Dr. Kopetskie falsely claimed superior knowledge to that of Dr. Dee based on his "extensive" experience with Mr. Huggins in less than a month. ROASUPP 1/38. "

... Dr. Dee was at a disadvantage in that he evaluated Mr. Huggins during a one-shot interview. I had the opportunity to interview him multiple times over an extended time period.

Id. at 53. Dr. Dee was not a one-hit wonder. He had multiple contacts over a six year period in 2001, 2006, and 2007. ROA 18/16. Dr. Kopetskie also ignored Dr. Dee's undisputed neuropsychological diagnosis of frontal lobe brain damage. ROA 2/383. The history was in the records Dr. Kopetskie claimed to be familiar with. ROA 22/53.

Court expert Dr. Danziger also had a long history with Mr. Huggins, evaluating him in 1998, 2006, and 2007. ROA 18/54-56. Mr. Huggins' extensive psychiatric history prior to the homicide confirmed genuine mental illness. In 1992, Mr. Huggins was involuntarily committed (by Baker Act) to a psychiatric facility with undisputed psychotic symptoms. He was also diagnosed as suffering

⁵ The defense advised the court on July 15, 2010, that when Dr. Danziger was told that Dr. Kopetskie had been instructed to not administer the SIRS test, Dr. Danziger found that act "questionable." ROA 26/10-12.

substantial mental illness in 1995 when he claimed he was the victim of a conspiracy by his ex-wife's family. ROA 18/56-57.

The extended experience of the court experts belies Dr. Kopetskie's claim superior knowledge. Dr. Kopetskie conducted only 5-6 interviews over less than a month between June 26 and July 23, 2009, ROA 22/29, 78.

Dr. Kopetskie diagnosed paranoid personality and antisocial personality disorder, but discounted their effect on competence because he believed Mr. Huggins was malingering. ROA 22/77. Dr. Kopetskie conceded that if he did not discount for malingering, then Mr. Huggins' sincere beliefs could explain why Mr. Huggins refused to cooperate with counsel. ROA 22/39-40. In other words, if he was not malingering, he was indeed incompetent to proceed.

The trial court found Mr. Huggins competent to proceed. ROA 4/706-15.

Mr. Huggins filed a Petition Seeking Review in this Court. This Court granted the State's Motion to Dismiss Unauthorized Appeal. *Huggins v. State*, Case No. SC09-2097 (dismissed January 27, 2010).

SIRS Test Eliminates Malingering, Incompetence Continues

Defense expert Dr. Richard Carpenter administered the definitive SIRS test in November 2009. The test conclusively proved Mr. Huggins was not malingering. ROA 5/857-69. However, the only other material Dr. Carpenter had was a 2006 report that Mr. Huggins passed another test specific for malingering,

the reports and orders in the case, and the Kopetskie report. He had no records from the Florida State Hospital, which he needed to review before rendering a final opinion. *Id*.

CCRC counsel served a records request on Florida State Hospital in November 2009, ROA 5/850-70, and a renewed demand in April 2010. The hospital agreed to produce the records and the motion was withdrawn at the motion hearing. ROA 25/passim. The judge inquired why the records were sought and counsel advised there was, *inter alia*, a "continuing issue of whether [Mr. Huggins] is competent or not." ROA 25/19. After Dr. Carpenter confirmed a diagnosis of incompetence and another unsuccessful attempt by counsel at visitation, counsel sought a hearing on a competency motion as soon as possible. ROA 5/850-70. The earliest date the court made available was four weeks later, on July 15, 2010. ROA 5/854-55.

Evidentiary Hearing Compelled Before Competency Determined

At the July 15, 2010, hearing, the judge found the evidence sufficient to order evaluations by the surviving court panelists. ROA 26/1-66. But the court set the deadline for the reports for two weeks after the scheduled evidentiary hearing. ROA 4/760. The judge wrote: "[T]he Court finds it quite disturbing that this information concerning Dr. Carpenter's testing and analysis was in the hands of defense counsel for approximately five months and that they sat on it all that time."

ROA 4/759-60. The judge had voiced a similar concern at the hearing: "And here we are at the ninth hour." ROA 26/57. The Judge's displeasure with the timing of the motion became a recurring theme.

At a July 30, 2010, hearing, the court denied a defense motion to correct factual errors in the order for competency review. ROA 5/850-70, ROA 4/759-64, ROA 35/passim. Responding to the court's displeasure with the timing of the competency motion, counsel reminded the court that he had informed the court of the "continuing issue, whether he's competent or not,"at the April 13, 2010, hearing. ROA 25/19. Counsel explained that the law set a high bar to succeed on a renewed competency motion. ROA 35/9-10. "We didn't want to keep coming back to the court with constant updates ... we wanted to wait until we had a complete package to present to your honor so we didn't establish a pattern of insufficient evidence" ROA 35/10.

The judge commented that if the defense had "not presented ample evidence before this court, the court would have never entered the order and would have simply denied your request, but after looking at what you presented, I granted your motion." ROA 35/16-17. The court agreed with defense counsel that Mr. Huggins might not be competent for the evidentiary hearing. ROA 35/17.

The judge said he would identify the claims for the evidentiary hearing "today [July 30, 2010], no later than Monday [August 2, 2010]." ROA 35/41. The

court's order did not timely issue. It was filed two weeks later, at 5:59 pm August 12, 2010, a Thursday evening. Postconviction counsel received the order by regular mail postmarked August 13, 2010, on August 16, 2010, seven days before hearing. *In re Huggins*, Petition for Writ of Prohibition, Case SC10-1614 page 1 note 1 (denied Aug. 23, 2010). The order required all claims be presented. ROA 4/770-72.

COMPETENCY ISSUES AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING Compelled Attendance at Evidentiary Hearing

The court ordered that, although Mr. Huggins' input was not required on any evidentiary hearing issue, his presence was required by Rule 3.851(c). ROA 4/770-72. The court authorized "any and all necessary force" to compel Mr. Huggins' presence because "it is imperative that he be physically present for the evidentiary hearing." ROA 4/796. On the other hand,

This Court has carefully reviewed the Rule 3.851 motion and has determined that none of the claims raised require Mr. Huggins' input. Therefore, the hearing scheduled for August 23,2010 can go forward regardless of Mr. Huggins' competency status

ROA 4/799.

These facts and more were alleged and supported in the defendant's Petition for Writ of Prohibition. The petition was denied after the hearing began.

⁶ The delay in receipt is corroborated by the State's Exhibit 1 filed in the State's Consolidated Response to the Petition for Writ of Prohibition.

Delusional at Evidentiary Hearing

At the start of the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Huggins presented the court with two documents. ROA 31/7-10. The first was a copy of an ethics complaint alleging Judge Perry imposed his personal beliefs to punish Mr. Huggins for uncharged crimes, suppressed evidence of a murder (apparently referring to Mr. Huggins' delusional belief that his first wife was murdered), and appointed defense attorneys for personal reasons. He alleged that the trial judge and defense counsel engineered the timing of the first trial so that it went to the jury on his first wife's birthday. ROASUPP 1/51-58. The complaint included Mr. Huggins' letter to an assistant state attorney containing delusional threats. ROA 4/604. The other exhibit was a letter claiming his family had some connection to the Oklahoma City bombing plot. ROASUPP 1/59-61. He claimed he was railroaded to death row by the people behind his wife's murder and the Oklahoma City bombing.

Nelson Motions Denied

At the hearing, Mr. Huggins repeatedly sought to discharge CCRC counsel and vacate the postconviction motion to allow him to file his own motion. ROA 31/10; ROA 31/15;⁷ ROA 31/64-65; ROA 32/197-200.

⁷ Mr. Huggins filed a motion to discharge counsel on June 23, 2008, while he was deemed incompetent. ROA 3/583. The court denied the motion without prejudice to renew it after Mr. Huggins was competent. ROA 3/587-88; ROA 20/1-8.

The trial court denied the motions because Mr. Huggins had refused to appear at the July 30, 2010, *Nelson* hearing. The court said it would re-entertain the motion after the competency issue was resolved. ROA 31/16. The judge said Mr. Huggins was "still presumed to be competent under the law." ROA 31/156-59. He again accused the defense of being dilatory in filing its renewed competency motion. ROA 31/159.8

The judge further confused the issue by saying that Mr. Huggins "refuses to cooperate with the State's expert" ROA 31/161-62.9 There was never a state expert, although the two surviving members of the court panel were de facto the State's experts. ¹⁰

Mr. Huggins said the incompetency issue arose when he advised postconviction counsel that he had been railroaded because of what happened to his first wife, Marianne Huggins and the Oklahoma City bombing. ROA 31/11-15.

⁸ The delay in the defense expert's final opinion caused by Florida State Hospital's failure to timely respond to a records request is discussed elsewhere in this brief. A more detailed time line outlining all the delays chargeable to the state is offered in the Motion to Correct Errors, ROA 5/850-69.

⁹ The court experts had been rebuffed when they tried to meet with Mr. Huggins at death row, but had not prepared reports prior to hearing.

¹⁰ Dr. Dee was the expert appointed based on the input of the defense pursuant to Rule 3.851(g)(5). Upon his death, the remaining experts were Dr. Danziger and Dr. McClaren. Those two experts had been appointed upon the express suggestion of the State. ROA 2/198, ROA 11/6.

After the court ordered CCRC counsel to advise Mr. Huggins of the consequences of refusing to be evaluated, counsel confirmed the advice was given but that Mr. Huggins spent the rest of the time advising counsel of issues he wanted presented, all of them based on his delusions. ROA 31/99.

The court refused to revisit the 2009 competency ruling vis-a-vis Mr Huggins' present competence, It responded erroneously at ROA 31/163-64 that the October 2009 ruling was "res judicata" because this Court had denied the Petition to Review Non-final Order. *Huggins v. State*, Case No. 09-2097 (Fla., dismissed, Jan. 27, 2010). The court also erroneously believed the court, not Mr. Huggins, had sought the review. ROA 31/163-64. This Court granted the State's Motion to Dismiss without reaching the merits. There was never "res judicata."

Counsel advised the court of the delusional claims Mr. Huggins wanted to pursue: his ex-wife, Angel Huggins, conspired with the Dixie Mafia to frame him; Walt Disney World needed a scapegoat and Mr. Huggins filled the bill; Senator Nelson was involved in framing Mr. Huggins, which somehow related to the Oklahoma City bombing; Judge Perry and Public Defender Wesley conspired to railroad him to death row; and the judge and Wesley were carrying out the wishes of the Democratic Party of Florida and Senator Nelson. Counsel advised this was only a sampling of the delusional issues. ROA 32/208-09. Mr. Huggins' claims

were the same claims the court experts had found were the delusional belief system which rendered him incompetent. ROA 32/228.

Faretta¹¹ Motions

Immediately after denial of the last *Nelson* motion, Mr. Huggins made an unequivocal request to proceed pro se. The court denied the motion. ROA 32/32. When the judge reminded Mr. Huggins that he had refused to leave his cell for the July 30, 2010, teleconference hearing (apparently implying waiver), Mr. Huggins said he had not been told why he was being called from his cell, ROA 32/241. This is consistent with the prison guard's statements to the court. ROA 35/25.

When defense counsel advised they needed input from a competent defendant to assist in presenting the claim then before the court, the court noted that Mr. Huggins had been articulate about his likes and dislikes. Counsel responded that what Mr. Huggins was articulating were his delusional claims. ROA 32/243.

Mr. Huggins made another unconditional request to discharge counsel and to proceed pro se. The court denied the motion. ROA 32/283.

Mr. Huggins renewed his request to discharge CCRC counsel at the start of the third day of the evidentiary hearing. ROA 33/356-58. Mr. Huggins submitted Court Exhibits 1 & 2, ROASUPP 3/57-66, two letters he said proved violation of

¹¹ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)

the attorney/client privilege. He claimed they had been written by his wife, although the first letter was signed by his stepdaughter. ROA 33/358-64. The court denied the motion. ROA 33/363-64.

At the close of the evidence, the court denied Mr. Huggins' renewed *Nelson* and *Faretta* motions. ROA 34/544.

FACTS DEVELOPED AT EVIDENTIARY HEARING RELATING TO THE 3.851 CLAIMS

DR. RICHARD CARPENTER

Dr. Carpenter said Mr. Huggins was under extreme mental or emotional distress at the time of the murder. ROA 31/27-45. Defense Exhibit 1, ROASUPP 3/1-47 (misidentified in clerk's index as "Copy of Correspondence from Defendant"). A Baker Act petition five years before the murder established a history of a severe mental illness. *Id.* Dr. Dee's neuropsychological testing established brain damage consistent with the history. *Id.* Dr. Danziger's 1998 report indicated a history of mood swings, suicide attempts, and a belief that people were present who were not actually there. *Id.* A 1995 report by a Dr. Tressler indicated Mr. Huggins was paranoid, confirmed by an MMPI test. *Id.*

Dr Carpenter concluded that Mr. Huggins suffered from bipolar disorder, with a history of psychotic thinking and choking in domestic violence situations. His wife said he was acting strangely the morning of the murder. Mr. Huggins was in an extreme state of unresolved emotional and psychological conflict about his

wife after an argument before the murder when he choked her. He displaced the conflict on the victim. After the murder, he acted in a conciliatory manner towards his wife, consistent with a domestic violence pattern. ROA 31/38-45.

ILLENE MANNING

Ms. Manning worked at the deli where the victim had last been seen alive and was familiar with her. ROA 31/66. The day of the murder, a man called the deli and ordered a sandwich for Mrs. Larson. Ms. Manning handed the order to a man at the deli counter. ROA 31/68-69. Her view was partially blocked by the deli counter. ROA 31/70. However, when she saw Mr Larson on television news a few days after the murder:

... I said, oh, my gosh, he look just like the person, you know. ... And I was, like, oh, no, just the eyes. ... It was her husband. I mean, just what I'm saying. I'm not saying it was him, but the eyes. ... You know, like you seeing a ghost, you see someone, you get chills, or whatever.

ROA 33/31/76-77. Ms. Manning said she saw Mr. Larson in the courthouse hallway before the hearing and that he looked like the man who picked up the sandwich. ROA 31/73. Ms. Manning was available at trial. ROA 31/78. She said she told police about what she saw. ROA 31/86-87.

FOREST THOMAS SPARKS, SR.

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