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

Mr. Huggins did not present any evidence or testimony during the evidentiary hearing to explain why counsel should have challenged Dr. Gore's testimony. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of proof.

Furthermore, counsel filed a motion in limine at trial to prohibit testimony about the psychological effects of strangulation. The trial court denied the motion but limited testimony regarding fear, and the Florida Supreme Court found no error on appeal. Huggins v. State, 889 So. 2d 743, 764-765 (Fla. 2004). Finally, the medical examiner's testimony regarding maggots and bone exposure was relevant to establish how long the victim had been deceased when her body was found. The Court finds there is no reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different if counsel had challenged Dr. Gore's testimony.

Reward money paid to Angel Huggins and others:<sup>43</sup> In her deposition, Ms. Huggins testified that she received a \$5,000 reward from Centex Rooney, Inc. Mr. Huggins alleged counsel failed to investigate the timing and circumstances of the payment of the reward money, and argued counsel would have been able to show the jury that the initial tip linking him to the murder was motivated by financial reward. He further alleged counsel failed to discover the payment of reward money

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> In addition to having been correctly decided by the circuit court, this claim is insufficiently briefed, and relief should be denied for that additional, independently adequate, reason. *Duest, supra; Simmons, supra*.

to other state witnesses and/or informants.

Mr. Huggins did not present any evidence or testimony during the evidentiary hearing to explain why counsel should have raised the issue of the reward money paid to Angel Huggins or anyone else. In addition, he failed to identify anyone else who received reward money. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of proof.

Furthermore, Ms. Huggins did not testify at the 2002 trial, so there was no need to impeach her and no way to introduce this particular evidence.<sup>44</sup> The Court finds there is no reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different if counsel had attempted to do so.

Jewelry found in the shed:<sup>45</sup> At trial, Fay Blades testified that in a shed behind her house, she found jewelry that was later identified as belonging to Carla Larson. Mr. Huggins alleged counsel failed to file a motion in limine based on the State's failure to produce a witness who saw him enter the shed between June 10, 1997 and the time the jewelry was discovered. He argued no witness had personal knowledge of who put the jewelry there and its discovery was not relevant since he had no ownership interest in the shed or any dominion and control over its contents.

Mr. Huggins did not present any evidence or testimony during the evidentiary hearing to explain why counsel should have raised the issue of the jewelry found in the shed. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of

<sup>45</sup> In addition to having been correctly decided by the circuit court, this claim is insufficiently briefed, and relief should be denied for that additional, independently adequate, reason. *Duest, supra; Simmons, supra.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Huggins says that his "unavailability" kept him from developing this claim. *Initial Brief*, at 89. Since Angel Huggins did not testify at trial, nothing Huggins could have said on the subject would have been relevant and admissible.

### proof.

Furthermore, Fay Blades was Mr. Huggins' mother-inlaw at the time of the murder, which made the discovery particularly relevant. The Court finds there is no reasonable probability a motion in limine would have been granted merely because no one saw Mr. Huggins place the jewelry in the shed or because he had no right to ownership or control over its contents.

**Testimony of Mr. Huggins:** Mr. Huggins alleged counsel failed to call him as a witness on his own behalf. He argued his testimony would have raised a reasonable doubt as to his guilt. He further argued the harm was exacerbated by counsel's opening the door to the introduction of his prior felony convictions, which "eviscerated any strategic reason for counsel not calling [him] to the stand."

Mr. Huggins did not allege that he told counsel he wanted to testify, nor did he set forth the specific testimony he would have given, and he did not present any evidence or testimony during the evidentiary hearing to support this claim. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of proof.

Furthermore, trial counsel Bob Wesley testified that although he had no specific recollection of discussing the issue with Mr. Huggins, he did so with every client, and Mr. Huggins was very involved in the case. He asserted that he "never put a seat belt on the chair" or told a client he was not getting up [to testify] because he was a "facilitator" and testifying is a defendant's constitutional right.

(V5, R918-42). (emphasis added). Those finding are correct, are supported by the evidence, and should not be disturbed. Further, a number of the claims contained in Huggins' brief, which are identified above, are insufficiently briefed in that they contain no more than a conclusory argument for relief that does nothing to identify any alleged error by the trial court. Regardless, this claim turns entirely on its facts, and those facts were found by the trial court and establish no basis for relief.

On pages 90-91 of his brief, Huggins raises a claim of penalty phase ineffectiveness as well as a claim of "cumulative error." Huggins was pro se at the penalty phase of his trial, and, for that reason, no ineffectiveness of "penalty phase counsel" claim will lie. Huggins' representation of himself cannot, by definition, have been constitutionally ineffective. To the extent that Huggins says that he should have been allowed litigate the ineffectiveness of counsel at the first, to vacated, penalty phase, the true facts are that that proceeding was set aside on Huggins' motion. The retrial was a wholly new proceeding as a matter of law. See, e.g., Lebron v. State, 982 So. 2d 659-660 (Fla. 2008). To the extent that the sentencing court gave Huggins the benefit of the doubt by considering the mitigation evidence from the vacated trial, there was no requirement that the trial court do that, and there would have been no error had that review not been undertaken. As it is, Huggins received a windfall. That did not, however, pierce the attorney-client privilege in the face of Huggins' explicit refusal to waive the privilege as to prior penalty phase counsel. Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4, 10 (Fla. 1992). In any event, the benefit devolved to Huggins, since the State was

deprived of any opportunity to inquire into prior counsel's work in this case. Huggins received all of the benefit, and suffered no prejudice.

In addition, the collateral proceeding trial court made the following findings with respect to this claim, which are correct in all respects:

Huggins alleged counsel failed to investigate Mr. mental mitigation evidence to present in his case. He argued counsel failed to develop testimony that at the time of the murder, his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired and he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. He acknowledged that counsel retained a mental health expert, but argued the expert was not provided with prior MMPI records, juvenile records, court records, school records, DOC records, and lay witness testimony. Finally, he alleged counsel expert who could have have retained an should investigated psychological mental illness beyond brain damage issues. He concluded that because counsel had available mental mitigation developed the not evidence, he could not make a well-informed decision whether to act as his own counsel during the penalty phase (which he did).

On August 25, 2010, Mr. Wesley testified that Mr. Huggins was "extraordinarily involved" in preparing for the penalty phase and all decisions were made consultation. Mr. Wesley his counsel and with believed if the defense team opened Mr. Huggins to examination, they "would be fighting anti-social allegations in this case" which would have been the destructive evidence the jury could hear, most because it presented a great risk of allowing the prosecution to poison the jury. Finally, he testified Mr. Huggins would not discuss trauma associated with his parents' divorce, and it was very difficult to obtain information about his childhood. Mr. Wesley concluded that it was Mr. Huggins' direction not to put on a substantial penalty phase presentation.

Cumulative effect: Mr. Huggins asked the Court "not to

view the ineffectiveness claims in a piecemeal fashion but to consider the deficiency and prejudice prongs of the *Strickland* analysis in a cumulative fashion.

The Florida Supreme Court has held: "The legal standard is reasonably effective counsel, not perfect or error free counsel." *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1022 n.14 (Fla. 1999). Although trial counsel candidly admitted to certain mistakes, the Court finds his performance was outside the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

On the contrary, Mr. Wesley's testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that he was thoroughly prepared for trial, made reasonable strategic decisions, and provided Mr Huggins with quality legal representation throughout both trials.

(V5, R942-43). The claim that an "effective mitigation case at the first trial" would have compelled a different result at the second trial is frivolous -- there is no legal support for that claim. Likewise, the claim that Huggins' decision to proceed pro se at the penalty phase was not an informed one has no legal basis. There is no requirement that a defendant be informed of every possible bit of mitigation before he can be permitted to proceed pro se, and, in any event, any claim of inadequacy in the waiver of counsel should have been raised on direct appeal. That claim is procedurally barred here. In any event, there is no support in the evidence for the claim that full investigation of anvthing less than а there was mitigation, which succeeded in doing no more than demonstrating anti-social personality disordered that Huggins is an individual. That does not help. There is no basis for relief,

and the collateral proceeding trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

## ISSUE 4: THE "GIGLIO"-CLOSING ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 91-95 of his brief, Huggins says that the State committed a *Giglio* violation by "knowingly arguing false facts" to the jury. The circuit court denied this claim following a hearing, and the standard of review is that set out at pages 54-

55, above.

The trial court said:

The prosecutor argued Charlotte Green "had absolutely no way of knowing that the car had been painted black other than by seeing it." He argued the State had expressly caused the information about the "unprofessional paint job" to be broadcast in the hope of finding a witness who had seen a white Ford Explorer with black paint.

Mr. Huggins was not referring to the testimony of a witness, but to a statement by the prosecutor. This was actually a substantive claim of an improper closing argument, which should have been raised on direct appeal. Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred. *Ferrell v. State*, 29 So. 3d 959, 977 (Fla. 2010).

Furthermore, to establish a Giglio violation, it must be shown: (1) the testimony given was false, (2) the prosecutor knew the testimony was false, and (3) the statement was material. Id. at 976-977 (Fla. 2010), citing Guzman v. State, 868 So. 2d 498, 505 (Fla. The evidence is material if there is 2003). anv reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment of the jury. Id. Ms. Green acknowledged that she heard about the case in the media, but she was adamant that she personally saw a white Ford Explorer that had been partially spraypainted black. This Court finds that Mr. Huggins cannot establish that her testimony was false or that the prosecutor knowingly made a false statement. Alternately, the Court finds the statement was not

material in the sense that it could have affected the judgment of the jury.

(V5, R944). (emphasis added). This claim, as the trial court found, is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. Alternatively and secondarily, this claim is meritless, as the trial court also found. Both of those findings are correct, and both should be affirmed in all respects.

# ISSUE 5: THE "ANGEL HUGGINS-REWARD" ISSUE

On page 95 of his brief, Huggins says that he "does not waive" a *Brady* claim related to the payment of a reward to Angel Huggins because his "incompetence" prevented him from "providing input" into this claim. Because Higgins was not incompetent to begin with, that claim fails. In any event, this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, and the standard of review set out at pages 54-55, applies.

In ruling on this claim, the trial court said:

Mr. Huggins alleged the State committed a *Brady* [footnote omitted] violation by failing to reveal impeaching information that state witnesses had been paid monetary rewards. He argued Angel Huggins admitted in deposition that she received \$5,000 from Centex Rooney, and newspaper articles outlining the reward offer through Crimeline indicated there was at least \$15,000 available. He further argued payment of reward money by Centex Rooney, through Crimeline, was imputed to the State, and at least \$10,000 of reward money was not accounted for.

As set forth above, Mr. Huggins did not present any evidence or testimony during the evidentiary hearing to explain why counsel should have raised the issue of the reward money paid to Angel Huggins [FN4] or anyone else. Furthermore, he failed to identify anyone else who received reward money. It was merely speculative to assert that any of the additional money available was paid to any witness. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of proof.

[FN4] Mr. Huggins obviously knew about the reward money paid to Ms. Huggins.

(V5, R945). (emphasis added). Those findings are correct in all respects and should be affirmed. Any suggestion that Huggins' "input" is necessary as to this claim makes no sense. The fact that Angel Huggins received some reward money was known to trial counsel based on her deposition taken before the first trial. It is equally well known that Angel Huggins did not testify in the second trial, making her irrelevant to the case in all respects. Huggins' "input" was simply not possible as to this claim, and the claim to the contrary has no basis in fact.

# ISSUE 6: THE "SHACKLING" CLAIM

On pages 95-99 of his brief, Huggins says that he was "shackled" during his trial, and that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to that fact. This claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, and the standard of review is that set out at pages 54-55, above.

In its order denying relief on this claim, the circuit court said:

Mr. Huggins alleged he was compelled to wear a leg brace during the guilt and penalty phases of his trial, and counsel failed to effectively object during the guilt phase. He argued he raised the issue twice when representing himself during the penalty phase but the Court denied relief both times based on his prior convictions and sentences and findings that the restraints were not visible to the jury.

On August 25, 2010, Mr. Wesley testified that he remembered a restraint being used at the trial in Jacksonville [the 1999 trial]. He described it in detail as a hinged metal brace with belted fasteners and a spring-loaded pin that could lock the knee in place. However, he did not remember a brace being used in Tampa [the 2002 trial] and also did not remember Mr. Huggins complaining about it, although he did not have a present recollection of either.

Mr. Huggins did not present any evidence or testimony to support the claim that he was shackled during the guilt phase of the 2002 trial. Therefore, the Court finds that he has failed to meet his burden of proof. [FN5] Furthermore, the nature and extent of the 17forth in the page argument set instant motion indicated that he was actually challenging the trial court's denial of his pro se request to remove whatever shackle he might have been wearing rather than counsel's purported failure to object. Such a claim is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal. Floyd v. State, 18 So. 3d 432, 457 (Fla. 2009).

[FN5] Collateral counsel did make a lastminute effort to obtain this information from authorities in Hillsborough County, without success. Counsel also sought a continuance to address this issue at a later time, which was denied.

(V5, R945-46). Those findings are correct, and should be affirmed in all respects. The procedural bar finding is correct, and disposes of this claim. Likewise, the failure of proof finding as to any guilt stage component is correct.

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